
Highways Committee

Date Friday 16 March 2018
Time 9.30 am
Venue Committee Room 2, County Hall, Durham

Business

Part A

1. Apologies for Absence
  

2. Substitute Members
  

3. Minutes of the Meeting held on 12 April and 20 November 2017  
(Pages 3 - 14)

4. Declarations of Interest, if any
  

5. Application NL44 for Village Green Registration - Bede Kirk, Barnard 
Castle - Report of Head of Legal and Democratic Services  (Pages 15 - 
52)

6. Such other business, as in the opinion of the Chairman of the meeting, 
is of sufficient urgency to warrant consideration  

Helen Lynch
Head of Legal and Democratic Services

County Hall
Durham
8 March 2018

To: The Members of the Highways Committee

Councillor C Kay (Chairman)
Councillor S Morrison (Vice-Chairman)

Councillors D Bell, H Bennett, G Bleasdale, J Chaplow, S Dunn, 
A Gardner, K Hopper, S Hugill, K Liddell, O Milburn, P Oliver, 
R Ormerod, J Robinson, J Rowlandson, P Sexton, J Shuttleworth, 
A Simpson, J Turnbull and M Wilson

Contact: Michael Turnbull Tel: 03000 269 714





DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL

At a Meeting of Highways Committee held in Crook Council Offices, Crook, Co Durham, 
DL15 9ES on Wednesday 12 April 2017 at 10.00 a.m.

Present:

Councillor C Kay in the Chair.

Members of the Committee:
Councillors B Armstrong, D Bell, O Gunn, B Kellett, O Milburn, F Tinsley, J Turnbull and M 
Wilkes.

1 Apologies for Absence 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors G Bleasdale, D Hicks, K Hopper, 
S Morrison, R Ormerod, J Robinson, J Rowlandson, P Stradling and R Young.

2 Substitute Members 

There were no substitute Members present.

3 Minutes

The minutes of the meeting held on 8 March 2017 were agreed as a correct record and 
signed by the Chair.

4 Declarations of interest 

There were no declarations of interest in relation to any items of business on the agenda.

5 Status of track at Victoria, Howden le Wear to Wear Valley Junction – Wildlife
and Countryside Act 1981 - Definitive Map Modification Order Proposal 

The Committee considered a report of the Corporate Director of Regeneration and Local 
Services sought consideration of evidence discovered regarding the status of the track 
through Victoria and so determine whether a Modification Order should be made to add a 
public right of way to the Definitive Map and Statement (for copy see file of Minutes).

The Legal Adviser then outlined the legal framework to the Committee. The Committee were 
informed that one of the first key statutory legal considerations in dealing with the issue was 
contained in Section 31 of the Highways Act 1980. This described the criteria that had to be 
met for deemed dedication of a highway that in order for a public right of way to be in 
existence, the route must be enjoyed by the public as of right and without interruption for a 
full period of 20 years. The qualifying period had to be calculated retrospectively from the 
date when the right of public use was brought into question. In this case the challenging of 
the public, first recorded by the Council in late 2014 was considered to be an action to bring 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



the right of public use into question. This was the period when users reported various 
signage being placed along the route and erection of gates. The 20 year period had to be 
calculated retrospectively from this date. 

The report made reference that some objections referred to ‘permissions being granted to 
use the road’ and that regular closures of the road meant use had been interrupted and/or 
obstructed use.  

The Legal Adviser concluded that there were some issues that officers and the Committee 
could not find an explanation for or get to the bottom of at this stage.  The only way to probe 
these points further would be through a public inquiry where evidence would be cross-
examined by a government inspector.

The Senior Rights of Way Officer guided the Committee through the evidence of usage 
detailed in paragraph 4 of the report and the summary of user evidence in Document B 
which detailed the standard questionnaire. The owner evidence detailed in Document C of 
the report was also summarised. A presentation also accompanied the summary of usage.

The Committee were informed that in terms of assessing the evidence the first judgement 
that needed to be made was to the credibility of the user evidence and whether it was of 
sufficient amount and quality to trigger the statutory presumption contained in Section 31 of 
the Highways Act 1980, detailed in paragraph 3.3. 

The amount of pedestrian use demonstrated was deemed to be substantial and had 
occurred over a long period of time. Equestrian and cycle use was lesser but was still of 
sufficient quantity to suggest that public rights for users were reasonably alleged to subsist. 
It was considered that the evidence submitted by witnesses was credible. 

Information relating to notices, permissions and challenges to use and the history relating to 
the maintenance of the road were all outlined to the Committee and detailed in full in the 
report.

Prior to hearing from those wishing to make representations on the issue, the Legal Adviser 
informed the Committee that any objections had to be considered in the context of the 
Human Rights Act 1998.  Although articles 1 and 8 are engaged they are qualified rights, 
not absolute, meaning that interference by the making of a Modification Order is both in 
accordance with domestic law and in the public interest.  

The Committee then heard from the first objector. The objector explained that the whole 
issue had been an intrusion on her privacy and had caused a large amount of upset. She 
had lived in the property, not long after it had been built. In 1931 a petition was submitted 
from 60 dwellings in Victoria was lodged requesting that the Council make a satisfactory 
road to their houses. No action was taken. The issue was raised again with Crook and 
Willington Urban District Council’s in 1957. All indications from 1931 and 1957 to date, by 
all local authorities, was that Victoria was classed as a private street. There had been no 
mention of the proposed multi user footpath and dedicated public rights of way.

Signage had been in place prior to 2014 and the objector was of the view that some people 
may simply not have seen it. The signage had been put in place to deter abusive people 
walking through the area. Some people had recalled some form of toll road and gates in the 

Page 4



evidence. Despite what had been said, there had been no attempts made to block the road 
and she was perfectly happy for people to use the road and use Victoria.

The objector felt that there was not sufficient information available to members of the local 
authority to make a determination on the issue.

The Legal Adviser informed the Committee that the issues referred to road maintenance in 
the 1930’s and 1950’s was not a public right of way matter and felt that the representations 
made at these times were a mechanism to put a measure in place to allow the Highways 
Authority to have the road maintained.

There was no definite conclusion as to whether the signs at no 10 were erected in 2014 or 
prior to then.. The issue was that the Council did not have sufficient evidence regarding the 
exact date of when any such signage was placed in the area. It was a possibility that this 
date may change through cross examination of evidence at a public inquiry.

The Committee then heard from another objector who explained that they were relatively 
new to the area. They had bought their house in 2004. There was no information contained 
in any of the searches to indicate that there was a public right of way. The resident was 
informed that the road was an ‘access road’ that could not be blocked off.

Since that time some gates had been installed following the recommendation of the local 
neighbourhood policing team. This action was to safeguard property and family. The 
objector’s property had been broken into three times and there had been numerous 
confrontations with members of the public, with over 40 recorded incidents lodged with the 
local police. The gates were closed on an evening to prevent the area being used as a rat-
run from the lower end of Howden-le-Wear.

In terms of signage, when the objector moved into the area there was a sign on the boundary 
fence ‘keep out – private property’. This had been placed on the fence by the previous owner 
and had been in place all of his lifetime. No-one had recalled noticing the sign in question 
and it had been removed before Google Street View photos had emerged.

The resident had CCTV installed at their property which had recorded footage of people 
letting their dogs loose in the area. They also had video footage of their hens being killed. A 
rabbit had also been beheaded.

Challenges were made by residents due to dogs barking in 2004 which lead to an incident 
where the objector’s partner had been threatened by way of a rifle being pointed at his face.

When large tractors use the road, any pedestrian, cyclists or horse riders move to stand in 
the resident’s garden to stand aside. All of these types of incidents severely affected their 
family life.

The Legal Adviser offered his sympathies to the objector about the instances of anti-social 
behaviour and criminal activities but stressed that the desirability of the route was not a 
matter for determination by the Committee. It was explained that the Committee could afford 
weight to Human Rights Act of 1998, for example, peaceful enjoyment of property and article 
8, the right to respect for family, private life and home. Whilst these issues were engaged, it 
was important to note that these rights were qualified, not absolute, which meant that they 

Page 5



could be interfered with, in so far, as such interference was in accordance with domestic law 
and was necessary in a democratic society for the protection of the rights and freedoms of 
others. It was considered that any interference occasioned by the making of a Modification 
Order was both in accordance with domestic law (the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981) 
and was in the public interest as it was necessary in a democratic society for the protection 
of the rights and freedoms of others, namely the public who wish to use the way. 

The Committee then head from supporter who raised a number of points. The gate referred 
to was installed at the end of July/August 2015. He explained that the previous objector had 
verbally abused him. Page 131 of the report referred to a ‘road closed’ sign, however, there 
was no evidence to show where the sign was located. The objector had held a number of 
meetings with the County Council’s public rights of way team and had passed all necessary 
evidence onto them.

The Senior Rights of Way Officer provided some clarity for the Committee with regard to 
gates being closed on Christmas Day. It was explained that there were no gates involved 
and that it was simply the ‘road closed’ sign in place. Issues that had been mentioned in 
relation to a footpath at the front of the houses was irrelevant.

The Committee then heard from a user of the route. He had used the route for the previous 
20 years for leisure and exercise. He recalled that in all that time, until recent years, that 
there had been no restriction or permission. In terms of signage, he explained that there was 
a sign on the property of one resident stating ‘small children playing’. The track had been 
used both ways by local tradespeople and home delivery vehicles. The track was used to 
walk to the school and local church. At no time was anyone ever challenged for permission. 
People used to fix pot holes in the route themselves. There was also a memorial tree garden 
accessed by the local school who used the route. The Council installed a multi user path 
because it was safer route to Low Barnes Nature Reserve. The alternative route was 
considered to be dangerous. The track was popular with horse riders, schools, scouts, 
cyclists and running clubs.

In terms of the intervention by local police, the supporter explained that he had queried the 
installation of the gates at a Police and Communities Together (PACT) meeting and this was 
categorically denied by the Police. Incidents regarding dogs were on police records. If larger 
vehicles such as bin lorries and tractors were using the track it was not unusual to see any 
cyclists or pedestrians simply standing on the grass verge to allow them to pass. The route 
provided a free and safe leisure route and it was important to retain safe footpaths and 
bridleways. The user felt that people should be allowed to use the route in the same way.

Councillor Tinsley referred to the issue in the 1930 regarding Crook and Willington Urban 
District Council and maintenance works and queried if anything had been done to determine 
whether the road was actually a private road – would this have had an impact on the 20 year 
period and was the desirability of the route a material consideration.

In response, the Legal Adviser informed the Committee that evidence in the 1930’s was 
minimal and it was simply a case that officers could not come to a conclusion of what was 
in the mind of the Highways Authority at that time. It was presumed that it related solely to 
maintenance of the track. If the work had been done it would have become a public right of 
way and maintainable by the Council. It was simply not clear from history.

Page 6



The Senior Rights of Way further added that the desirability of the route was not a material 
consideration and that the key consideration was usage. 

Councillor Tinsley felt that there was evidence of significant usage and that issues regarding 
notices, challenges and closures were not proven. He was content with the answers to the 
queries that had been raised by all parties and was content that the Committee couldn’t 
consider the desirability of the route. The test on the balance of probabilities was that it was 
reasonably alleged that the route existed and formally moved the recommendation in the 
report.

Councillor B Armstrong seconded the proposal.

An objection was made by a member of the public who had made it clear that they wished 
to speak, prior to the meeting, however, she had not been afforded the opportunity. 
Following confirmation that this was correct, the Chairman allowed the member of the public 
to make their point known.

The member of the public explained that they lived at Engineman’s Terrace and no one had 
been challenged there, and that their main concern was the traffic that accessed the through 
road. They referred to an incident when the lower lane had flooded. This had directed people 
towards Engineman’s Terrace. The member of the public did not want more traffic in the 
area. 

Councillor O Gunn sought clarification regarding the proposal put forward and queried if the 
recommendation was carried, would the road remain private, even though it would be 
classed as a public right of way. Councillor Gunn queried where the responsibility would be 
in terms of maintenance of the track and any public liability involving public use.

The Legal Adviser informed the Committee that it was difficult to provide an answer to the 
issue of maintenance. If the modification order was made it would not make the County 
Council responsible for maintenance, so whoever maintained the route at present would 
maintain it in the future. In terms of liability the Legal Adviser felt that this was not an issue 
that the Committee could consider at this time.

Resolved
That a Modification Order be made under the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 to add to 
the Definitive Map and Statement a public bridleway along the full 1125 metre long route 
from Railway St Howden le Wear to the adopted highway, unclassified county road 41.27, 
at the Weardale Railway level crossing.

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL

At a Meeting of Highways Committee held in Council Chamber, County Hall, Durham on 
Monday 20 November 2017 at 11.00 a.m.

Present:

Councillor C Kay in the Chair

Members of the Committee:
Councillors H Bennett, G Bleasdale, S Dunn, A Gardner, S Hugill, O Milburn, S Morrison 
(Vice-Chairman), P Oliver, R Ormerod, J Rowlandson, P Sexton, J Shuttleworth, 
A Simpson, J Turnbull and M Wilson

1 Apologies for Absence 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors D Bell, J Chaplow, K Hopper, 
K Liddell and J Robinson

2 Substitute Members 

There were no substitute Members.

3 Minutes 

The minutes of the meeting held on 24 July 2017 were agreed as a correct record and signed 
by the Chair.

4 Declarations of interest

There were no declarations of interest in relation to any items of business on the agenda.

5 C10a Leadgate Road, Leadgate - 40mph Speed Limit 

The Committee considered a report of the Corporate Director of Regeneration and Local 
Services regarding a proposed Traffic Regulation Order to increase the speed limit from 
30mp to 40mph on a new section of road on the C10a western approach to Leadgate (for 
copy see file of Minutes).

The Committee were informed that the road in question used to be fairly narrow and been 
subject to a recent road realignment. A railway bridge had also been removed as it was in 
poor condition. Historically, the road had been subject to a 30 mph speed limit by virtue of it 
having a system of street lights. The limit had also been self-enforcing due to the overall 
layout. Traffic signals were also operation over the bridge deck when it was in situ. 

Page 9



The Police had reported that a significant number of complaints had been received about 
speeding in the area which had resulted in periods of targeted enforcement.

The Committee were provided with a presentation which detailed the following:-

 Location plan;
 current and proposed speed limits;
 a selection of photos from the area. 

(for copy see file of Minutes).

The Traffic Assets Manager explained that the 30mph was not considered to be ‘self-evident 
to drivers on the new road layout due to the wide carriageway, the removal of the traffic 
signals and the lack of property frontage development meaning that drivers were confused 
with the open aspect of the road layout and used the road as if it were subject to a higher 
speed limit.  The Committee were advised of Department for Transport guidance regarding 
credible speed limits and best practice for achieving lower speed limits.

A number of representations had been received which were detailed in the report. These 
were summarised for the Committee.

Councillor Temple accepted the issue as presented by officers but could not agree with the 
reasoning behind the proposed increase in speed limit. Councillor Temple explained that he 
had expressed his concerns throughout the consultation process and residents from Villa 
Real Bungalows and Newbell Court had also expressed concerns. Councillor Temple felt 
that a decision to increase the speed limit would legitimise people that drove faster. 
Furthermore, an increased speed limit would create a safety issue for those crossing the 
Coast 2 Coast (C2C) cycle route and believed that speeds would be faster in areas where 
motorists would be exiting from estate roads, including Villa Real Bungalows and Sherburn 
Terrace.

The Committee discussed the use of 30 mph repeater signs as an alternative to increasing 
the speed limit. It was explained that the DoT would not allow for the use of repeater signs 
on 30mph stretches of road where street lights were present.  However, repeater signs could 
be used on 40mph stretches of roads. Councillor A Gardner informed the Committee that 
the C2C was one of the most used cycle routes in the country. He felt that the measures 
proposed in the report would present an increased danger to cyclists.  Councillor Gardner 
also asked if the 20mph zone around the Primary School should be re-examined.

Councillor P Sexton commented that the C2C crossing point was difficult to cross at the 
present time, therefore he could not support any increase in the speed limit. 

In response, the Traffic Assets Manager informed the Committee that speed surveys had 
shown that 20% of vehicles were travelling in excess of 30mph at the C2C crossing point, 
with 5% at a speed where the police would potentially prosecute.

Councillor J Turnbull informed the Committee that a similar speed increase had taken place 
in his area a number of years ago. At the time he had echoed similar concerns expressed 
by Councillor Temple and was very doubtful that the scheme would have been successful.  
However, this had been in place for a number of years to date and it had been a success, 

Page 10



despite the initial doubts.  Councillor Turnbull moved the recommendation and proposed 
that the proposed scheme should be introduced on an initial nine month basis.

Councillor Ormerod felt that the scheme should be rejected on the basis of the unanimity 
amongst the local members their local knowledge, together with the depth of feeling 
amongst local residents. 

Councillor Milburn seconded the motion moved by Councillor Turnbull.

Resolved
That a Traffic Regulation Order be made to introduce a 40mph speed limit on the C10a 
commencing prior to the A691/A692 roundabouts, and to introduce a 30mph speed limit to 
encompass the C2C and zebra crossing facilities at the western end of Leadgate and the 
operation of the scheme be reviewed after nine months of operation.

6 Wolsingham Byway 157 (Hexham Lane) - Objection to Experimental Traffic
Regulation Order to prohibit 4WD vehicles 

The Committee considered a report of the Corporate Director of Regeneration and Local 
Services regarding an objection to an experimental traffic regulation order to prohibit 4WD 
vehicles on Wolsingham Byway 157 (Hexham Lane) (for copy see file of Minutes).

The Senior Rights of Way Officer explained the background to the report and provided the 
Committee with a detailed presentation to assist with the detail provided in the report, as 
follows:-

 location plan(s)
 explanation of the experimental order
 by-way inspections
 photos of pinch points/4 wheel vehicle damage/wet areas/sand areas
 key comments from the inspections; and
 summary of objection

(for copy see file of Minutes).

In terms of objections, the Committee were informed that landowner one had requested that 
all motor vehicles are prohibited from using the Byway to ensure it remained in a useable 
condition for pedestrians, cyclists and horse riders. He provided photos in February 2017 
which showed significant damage caused by 2W vehicles. He also described 2Ws accessing 
other areas and causing distress to his livestock and that 4WDs had ignored the ban and 
accessed the byway from other estate tracks. He also considered that the damage to the 
byway created safety issues for his employees and impacted on those who were using the 
byway on foot or horseback.

Landowner two had made three separate reports between November 2016 and March 2017 
about motor bikes ridden off the route of the byway and causing upset to pregnant cows and 
sheep, leaving gates open and driving too fast. Responses to the objections were 
summarised to the Committee and were detailed in the report.

Page 11



The Senior Public Rights of Way Officer explained to the Committee that monitoring of the 
condition of the byway throughout the period of the experimental order had indicated that 
the surface had been able to withstand use by 2WD vehicles. Although, there had been 
some changes in the condition of the byway and the weather/seasonal conditions did impact 
the robustness of the surface, it had withstood usage.

Usage by 4WD vehicles was still evident, however owner/occupiers of the land were not 
excluded by the prohibition and banning of these users would not be considered lawful. The 
impact of 4WDs during the experimental order period had further compounded the view that 
(apart from the excepted 4WDs described) these vehicles should continue to be prohibited 
due to the poor structure of the sub soil. 

Officers were recommending that the experimental order be made permanent.

The Committee then head from a representative from the Green Lane Association. The 
representative felt that motorists had been represented very unfairly in the presentation 
provided to the Committee.  Whilst it was fair to suggest that the lane did lapse in condition 
during the winter months, the Association felt that a lot of the damage came about as a result 
of a lack of maintenance and explained that the route tended to be neglected at times. The 
Association felt that tractors were the biggest single cause of damage to the lane and felt 
that some basic maintenance and user restraint at the right time would help alleviate some 
of the problems that were being encountered. There were many lanes throughout the 
country in similar conditions to Hexham Lane which remained open.

The Association also explained that they had funds to help with maintenance of the route 
and always promoted restraint to all its members during bad weather. The Association were 
disappointed that the photos shown to the Committee had been taken at the worst time of 
year.

In summing up, the Association felt that it was unfair and unreasonable to blame groups 
such as the GLASS and the TRF for the actions of a small minority. They felt that a ban 
would simply serve to punish those who used the byway responsibly and suggested a 
seasonal ban would be a fairer and better solution. They felt that this would also resolve any 
issues regarding ‘spooked’ cattle and usage over winter. The Association spoke of their 
good relations working with local authorities and cited partnership working with both Essex 
and Surrey County Councils and suggested that there was no reason why they could not 
work with Durham in the same way.

The Public Rights of Way Officer explained that the decision required by the Committee was 
to decide whether or not to make the experimental order permanent. No representations 
had been made by motor vehicle users in the six month period where objections were 
invited.  Prior to the experimental order, the lane was in a terrible state and all vehicles were 
banned. In terms of four wheel drive vehicles, it was explained that these were heavier in 
nature and carried more load on the day. 

The Highway Development Manager explained that the Council did consider a seasonal 
order, referred to by GLASS, however, the area generally suffered from significantly wet 
ground throughout the year, therefore the idea was dismissed, as it was felt that the surface 
would be damaged throughout the year. The Highway Development Manager also explained 
that at present the lane didn’t appear in too bad a condition, however, this was due to the 

Page 12



current ban on four wheel drive vehicles. In terms of voluntary restraint it was considered 
admirable that some did exercise restraint, however there was video evidence of completely 
unacceptable behaviour that had been viewed.

Councillor Shuttleworth felt that there should be a total prohibition to all vehicles and didn’t 
believe that such areas should be used as ‘adventure playgrounds’. Councillor J 
Shuttleworth would preferred to have seen the experimental order extended for a further 
year.

Councillor A Gardner thanked the Rights of Way Team for their comprehensive report and 
fully understood the concerns of the landowners. In light of this Councillor Gardner 
expressed his support and moved the recommendation detailed in the report.

Councillor Ormerod felt that the recommendation struck the right balance and that the route 
should be available and reassuring for walkers and horses to use. Councillor Ormerod was 
in no doubt that four wheel drive vehicles were causing the damage.

Councillor O Milburn asked if landowners used four wheel drive vehicles on the route and if 
the County Council was responsible for the upkeep.  She also queried whether the 
landowner should contribute towards maintenance and repairs.

The Public Rights of Way Officer informed the Committee that the landowner at the southern 
end of the route had carried out a considerable amount of work. She was not aware of any 
maintenance undertaken at the northern section of the route but explained that the 
landowner was not under any obligation to do so.

Councillor S Dunn explained that he was horrified after seeing the photos contained in the 
officer’s presentation at the damage caused by vehicle use.  He felt that people should be 
allowed to freely walk the route and was happy to second the recommendation.  Following 
on from the point made by Councillor Milburn, Councillor Dunn requested that officers ask 
the landowner to consider maintenance to the problematic areas and seek some form of 
contribution.

Councillor P Oliver informed the Committee that he had listened to the comments made and 
the observations made from the PowerPoint presentation but felt that the route should be 
open for everyone to use and that by closing the route would lead to other similar routes 
being closed too. Councillor Oliver also felt that four wheel drive vehicles were being singled 
out unnecessarily in this case.

One of the landowners had nothing further to add and informed the Committee that his 
property had suffered as result of use as the surface was rutting up in places. More so, there 
were also issues of cattle being spooked. The landowner clarified that the only vehicles used 
by the landowner was those used to service livestock.

Councillor Turnbull informed the Committee that he tended to agree with the comments 
made by the representative of the GLASS and felt that if the Association had been in 
dialogue with the Council regarding volunteer labour prior to the issue being considered, 
why had the information had not been provided to the Committee beforehand. 

Page 13



The Public Rights of Way Officer explained that the issue was greater than any sort of 
volunteer labour would resolve.

Upon a vote being take it was 

Resolved
That the Committee note the objections made and that the Committee recommend to the 
Corporate Director of Regeneration and Economic Development that the Experimental 
Traffic Management Order is made permanent.

Page 14



Highways Committee

16 March 2018

Application NL44 for Village Green 
Registration 
Bede Kirk, Barnard Castle

Report of Helen Lynch, Head of Legal and Democratic Services 

Introduction

1. The Council is the registration authority for Town and Village Greens under 
the Commons Registration Act 1965 and the Commons Act 2006 and the 
function of determining TVG applications falls to the Highways Committee 
under the Council’s Constitution.  The Council must act impartially in its 
determination.

Purpose of the Report & Background

2. To advise the Committee in determining an application to register land at 
Bede Kirk, Barnard Castle, as Town or Village Green, under the provisions of 
the Commons Act 2006.

3. The application was made by the Barnard Castle Town Council, acting 
through its clerk, Michael King (the Applicant).  A copy of the application, 
excluding the supporting user evidence, is attached at Appendix 1 (the 
Application).  The Application was received on 6 July 2017 by the Council and 
was accompanied by a plan showing the area claimed as town or village 
green (the Application Land) as well as 6 letters in support from users of the 
claimed TVG.  The Application was given the reference number NL44 by the 
Council.

4. A copy of all of the user evidence submitted in support of the application is 
attached at Appendix 2.  A map of the Town Council area prepared by 
Officers showing where the users are drawn from is also included.

5. As required by the Commons Registration (England) Regulations 2008, 
Notice of the application was published on the Council’s website and in the 
Teesdale Mercury newspaper and a site notice was also erected.  

6. Notice of the application was also given to the owner of the land subject of the 
application and a copy of the Application was also placed on deposit with the 
Barnard Castle Town Council, for public access.

 
7. The land subject of the application is a former Police Station and grounds, 

owned by the Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner for Durham (the 
Owner).

8. Following publication of the notice of the application, two objection letters 
were received, one from the Estates Department of Durham Constabulary as 

Page 15

Agenda Item 5



agents of the Owner dated 8 November 2017 and the other from Railway 
Housing Association dated 2 November 2017 to whom it is understood that 
the Owner is proposing to sell the land.  

9.  The Applicant was given an opportunity to comment upon the two objections 
received and they did so by letter dated 28 November 2017.  A further 
representation in support of the Application from a resident of Bede Kirk was 
received by the Council on 15 January 2018.

10. The objection letters, letter in response from the Applicant and the further 
representation from the resident of Bede Kirk are all attached at Appendix 3.

11. Although the Owner opposes the application, they have not directly 
challenged the Applicant’s user evidence and have not put forward any 
evidence which is contrary to the user evidence provided by the Applicant.  
Accordingly, it was felt that there would be no need to hold a Non-Statutory 
Public Inquiry before Members determined the application.  A Non-Statutory 
Public Inquiry is usually only necessary where the evidence needs to be 
tested by cross examination or where there are significant legal issues in 
dispute.   

12. The decision on this application is a matter for this Committee.  An 
assessment of the evidence submitted by the Applicant has been undertaken 
by Officers and for the reasons set out in the remainder of this report, Officers 
are of the view that the statutory test for registration of the Application Land as 
a Town or village Green has not been met by the Applicant.  Accordingly, the 
recommendation is that Members should refuse the Application and decline to  
register the Application Land as a Town or Village Green.

The Law

The Commons Act 2006

13. Village greens which were not registered as such by 31 July 1970 ceased to 
be village greens and can only now gain that status through registration under 
the current statutory provisions.  Registration brings about general 
recreational rights and other statutory protection which effectively precludes 
further development of the site.

14. The Commons Act 2006 is the statutory regime governing village greens and 
Section 15 of the Act sets out the requirements which must be met if the 
Application Land is to be registered.  Registration of village greens is 
determined by the Council who are the Commons Registration Authority and 
the process of determination of any application is focused on whether a 
village green has come into existence as a matter of law.

15. The Application was made under section 15(1) of the Commons Act 2006 
which states that:

“A person may apply to the Commons Registration Authority to register land 
as a town or village green if subsection 2 applies.”  

Subsection 2 states that: 

Page 16



“a Village Green has come into existence where:

(a) A significant number of the inhabitants of any locality, or of any 
neighbourhood within a locality, have indulged as of right in lawful 
sports or pastimes on the land for a period of at least 20 years; and

(b) They continue to do so at the time of the application.”

16. The definition in Section 15 can therefore be broken down into the following 
six elements:

16.1 ”…a significant number…” – Significant does not necessarily mean substantial 
or considerable in number.  It is necessary to show a general use by the local 
community as opposed to mere occasional use by trespassers.  That is not 
assessed by a simple headcount of users.  There is no need for an applicant 
to demonstrate a geographical spread of users within the locality.

16.2 “…of the inhabitants of any locality…” – This is not defined by any arbitrary 
margins but must be a recognised county division such as a borough, parish 
or manor, therefore an ecclesiastical parish can be a locality as required by 
section 15(2).  It is acceptable for the users to come “predominantly” from the 
locality.

16.3 “…or any neighbourhood within a locality…” –  A neighbourhood must be 
clearly defined and have a sufficient cohesiveness.  It must also be within a 
locality. 

16.4 “…have indulged as of right…” – Use “as of right” is use without permission, 
secrecy or by force.  The key issue in user ‘as of right’ is not the subjective 
intentions of the users but how the use of the land would appear, objectively, 
to the land owner.  Use is “as of right” if it would appear to the reasonable 
landowner to be an assertion of a right.  Permission by the land owner, 
perhaps in the form of a notice on the land, would mean that the use is not as 
of right.  Equally, use by force, such as where the user climbs over a fence or 
other enclosure to gain access to the land would not be use as of right.  An 
example of a secret use could be where the use takes place exclusively under 
the cover of darkness such that it would not be reasonable to expect a 
landowner to become aware of it.  

16.5 “…in lawful sports and pastimes on the land…” – This is very broadly 
interpreted so that general recreational use including walking with or without 
dogs, children’s play, playing games, picknicking, camping etc would all be 
included.  However, it is important to distinguish mere use or assertion of a 
public right of way from use for lawful sports and pastimes. The Courts have 
said that if use could give rise to a public right of way, then whether it should 
be regarded as mere use/assertion of a public right of way or a qualifying 
lawful sport/pastime will depend upon how such use would have appeared to 
a reasonable landowner.  Where the position is ambiguous then it should 
count as a public right of way use as the less onerous right.

16.6 “…for a period of at least 20 years…” – The fulfilment of the 20 years 
continuous use must immediately precede the date of the application. 

Page 17



17. The Growth and Infrastructure Act 2013 introduced the concept of trigger and 
terminating events.  The purpose of these is to prevent a TVG application 
where land has been identified for potential development in the planning 
system.  A trigger event would therefore operate to prevent a TVG application 
from being made where certain events in connection with development of land 
have occurred unless and until there is a corresponding terminating event, 
thereby restoring the ability to make an application.  These trigger and 
terminating events are set out in Schedule 1A to the Commons Act 2006.  For 
example, trigger events include publication of an application for planning 
permission and draft allocation of land in a local plan or neighbourhood plan 
as well as adoption of that plan.  Terminating events include withdrawal of the 
planning application/plan, refusal and expiry of the planning permission.

Burden and Standard of Proof

18. In order for an application to be successful each aspect of the requirements of 
section 15(2) must be strictly proven and the burden of proof in this regard is 
firmly upon the Applicant.  The standard of proof to be applied is ‘on the 
balance of probabilities.’  Therefore the Applicant must demonstrate that all 
the elements contained in the definition of a Village Green in section 15(2) of 
the Act have been satisfied.

19. It is instructive when deciding if an applicant has discharged the burden of 
proof to have regard to the words of Lord Bingham in R v Sunderland City 
Council ex parte Beresford [2004] as follows :

‘It is no trivial matter for a landowner to have land , whether in public or private 
ownership registered as a town green….It is accordingly necessary that all 
ingredients of the definition should be met before land is registered and 
decision makers must consider carefully whether the land in question has 
been used by inhabitants of the locality for indulgence in what are properly to 
be regarded as lawful sports and pastimes and whether the temporal limit of 
20 years’ indulgence or more is met.’

Application Land

20. The plan attached to the Application at Appendix 1 shows the Application 
Land edged in red.  It is part of the former Police Station at Bede Kirk, being 
the grassed/landscaped grounds upon which there are a number of mature 
trees but not the Police Station building itself.  The steps/footpath from 
Harmire Road to the Police Station building are also included. 

21. Other than a stone wall on the Western elevation of the Application Land, it is 
unenclosed and bounded to the West by a vehicular highway known as 
Harmire Road (beyond which there are residential dwellings) and to the North, 
East and South by residential dwellings. There are no recorded public rights 
of way over the Application Land.

22. It is understood that the Police Station closed in 2017.       

Ownership

Page 18



23. The Application Land is in the ownership of the Office of the Police and Crime 
Commissioner for Durham and is registered at the Land Registry, together 
with the Police Station building, under title number DU287321.

Assessment of Applicant’s Evidence

24. The Council is not in receipt of any evidence which would undermine or 
contradict the user evidence at Appendix 2 and accordingly, it must be taken 
on face value and afforded significant weight in the assessment of the 
Application.  An Officer assessment of the user Evidence is attached at 
Appendix 4.  In summary, it is clear that a very small number of members of 
the public have used the Application Land for lawful sports and pastimes as of 
right over a 20 year period immediately preceding the application in July 2017.  
It can also be said that the majority of the users are from Barnard Castle 
Town Council area itself.   However, of the 7 users who have provided 
evidence, only 2 have provided evidence of use over the whole qualifying 
period.  Applying each of the elements of the Section 15 definition to the facts 
of the application as follows:

A Significant number

24.1 Although significant in this context does not necessarily mean substantial or 
considerable, it is not considered that 7 users, only 2 of whom have either 
used the Application Land or observed others doing so over the whole of the 
qualifying period (discussed further below) is sufficient to show general use by 
the community as opposed to occasional use by trespassers.  It is also 
considered that the number of users is insufficient to alert a reasonable 
landowner that rights were being asserted over the Application Land.

Inhabitants of the locality or neighbourhood within the locality

24.2 Barnard Castle Parish is clearly a Locality, as required by the Act. The users 
who have provided evidence all live, or have lived, within this Locality.  
Although it is uncertain whether the users who have merely been observed by 
others (children playing and dog walkers) have all come from this Locality, the 
requirement is only for the users to be predominantly from the Locality.   

Use as of Right

24.3 The Application Land is largely unenclosed and there is no evidence that any 
notices seeking to control use have ever been erected on it by or on behalf of 
the landowner, nor is there any evidence that the landowner has sought to 
challenge the use.  There can therefore be no question of use of the land by 
force.  Equally, there is no question of the use being by stealth/secrecy.  
Turning to the issue of permission, there is no evidence that any of the users 
have ever sought or obtained permission to use the Application Land from the 
landowner and no evidence that the landowner has ever sought to control or 
permit the use.  Although the landowner asserts that permission can be 
implied due to the operational nature of the Police Station between 1977 and 
2017 with a public counter and out of ours telephone facility at the front of the 
building, it is of note that the building is not included within the Application 
Land.   Whilst permission therefore may be implied for the public to access 
the police station building and out of hours telephone service, it cannot relate 

Page 19



to the Application Land itself with the exception of the steps/footpath leading 
to the front of the building.  It is considered that members of the public must 
have used the steps/footpath to access the building and out of hours 
telephone facility by way of permission as it was the access to a public 
building providing a public service.  Accordingly, it is considered that the use 
of the Application Land (excluding the steps/footpath) has been ‘as of right.’

Lawful sports and pastimes

24.4  The range of activities undertaken on the Application Land include dog 
walking, children’s play/games and socialising as well as wildlife watching.  
With the possible exception of dog walking, these activities amount to either 
informal recreation or the playing of games and as such are lawful sports and 
pastimes.  Although one user mentions playing ball with a dog which is clearly 
a leisure activity, it is unclear whether the majority of dog walkers who have 
used the Application Land have done so by walking a defined route or by 
walking anywhere on the Application Land.  If a defined route has been 
walked only, it may amount to no more than the assertion of a public footpath 
rather than referable to a leisure activity (lawful pastime).  It is of note that the 
landowner has asserted that dog walkers have followed a particular route over 
the Application Land in order to access the former police houses, rather than 
undertaking any form of leisure use and whilst the Applicant points out that 
there is no footway on the Application Land, he does not appear to directly  
challenge that assertion.  Given the ambiguity over this issue, it is considered 
that such use ought to be regarded as the assertion of public footpath rights 
only rather than a lawful pastime in connection with a village green use.  
However, it is important to note that even if the dog walking use were to be 
regarded as a leisure activity entirely referable to village green use, this would 
not alter the recommendation.  It is not considered therefore that this is a 
determinative issue in the assessment of the Application.

For at least 20 years and continuing

24.5  Although one user gives evidence of use as far back as 1958, the qualifying 
period for the purposes of the application is the 20 years immediately 
preceding the application i.e. July 1997 – July 2017.  Of the 7 users who have 
provided evidence of use, 1 predates the qualifying period, 1 is from the early 
2000s onwards, 2 relate to the whole of the qualifying period and it is unclear 
what period is being referred to by the other 3.  There is no information given 
as to frequency of the claimed use.  It is considered that there is insufficient 
evidence of use of the Application Land for the whole of the qualifying period 
and continuing up to the date of the application.  The level of use borne out by 
the evidence is insufficient to bring it home to a reasonable landowner that 
village green rights were being asserted.

Trigger/Terminating events

24.6 There are no trigger events relevant to the Application Land.

Other issues – the proposed sale and redevelopment of the Application Land

24.7 It is apparent that following the closure of the Police Station, the Owner 
intends to sell the Application Land for residential development to a Housing 

Page 20



Association.  Indeed, this is referred to in the objection letter from Railway 
Housing Association and in many of the user evidence letters and 
representation in support of the Application.  The intentions of the Owner in 
this regard are not material to the determination of the Application or the 
status of the Application Land as Town or Village Green or otherwise.  
Members must not therefore place any weight on the desirability or otherwise 
of the loss of the green space to housing and must determine the application 
strictly on the basis of an assessment of the evidence and whether the above 
statutory test is met.

Overall Conclusions 

25. The Applicant has failed to discharge the burden placed upon him of proving 
on the balance of probabilities that:

(a) The users are significant in number;

(b) There has been continuous use of the land for at least 20 years 
immediately preceding the date of the application.

Recommendation:

26. It is recommended that Members resolve to:

Refuse the Application and decline to register the Application Land as a Town 
or Village Green.

Contact: Neil Carter Tel: 03000 269722

Page 21



Implications of decision

Finance - none

Staffing - none

Risk – there is a potential risk of legal challenge by an Applicant, should the 
Application be refused in accordance with the Officer recommendation.

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty - none 

Accommodation - none

Crime and Disorder - none

Human Rights – the recommended decision is in line with domestic legislation 
and is Human Rights Act compliant.  The parties have been afforded an 
opportunity to make representations and to speak at the Committee Meeting.

Consultation – the application has been publicised in accordance with the 
legislation  

Procurement – none

Disability Issues - none

Legal Implications – determination of the Application is a quasi-judicial 
function and therefore there is a potential for challenge by an aggrieved party 
by way of Judicial Review.

Page 22



Page 23



Page 24



Page 25



Page 26



Page 27



Page 28



Page 29



Page 30



Page 31



Page 32



Page 33



Page 34



Page 35



Page 36



Page 37



Page 38



Page 39



07/03/2018 Plan for identification purposes only; not to be used for scaling or formal documentation

http://spatial.durham.gov.uk/ws/customRestServices/PrintPage.aspx 1/1

Durham County Council - IntraMAP

Map produced by Durham County Council - IntraMAP on
7/3/2018 at a scale of 1:5000

Every care has been taken to ensure the information contained on this map is
correct. DCC accepts no liability for error or misinterpretation of the information
shown on this map.

© Crown Copyright and database right 2018.
 Ordnance Survey LA 100049055 

 Copyright © 2018

P
age 40



Page 41



Page 42



Page 43



Page 44



Page 45



Page 46



Page 47



Page 48



Page 49



This page is intentionally left blank



Assessment of user evidence

6 letters submitted detailing use (7 persons in total as 2 from same household) as
follows:

1) Anne Bowron of 35 Harmire Road

Provides evidence of childhood use from 1958 up to 1976 when she left Barnard
Castle.

Although she moved back to Harmire Road in 2002 she does not provide any
further details of use.

Her evidence of use therefore relates to a period which is outside of the relevant
Qualifying Period of 1997-2017

2) Angela Bainbridge of New Houses, Bede Kirk

She says that from 2004 her children, and others, played on the Application Land
and now that her children are teenagers they use it for socialising with friends.

Her evidence of use therefore relates to 2004 to 2017 only and not to the whole
of the Qualifying Period

3) David Stacey of 22 Cleveland Road

He has used the Application Land for the last 6 years (2011-2017) for exercising
and playing with his dog.  Has lived in the area for 34 years and has used the
Application Land ‘for many years’ as a spot of shade when cycling to work at the
nearby GSK plant.

The dog exercising use is relatively recent and does not extend over the whole of
the Qualifying Period. It is not clear over what period he has used the Application
Land for shade when cycling to work as he simply says it was many years, nor
are any details given of how frequently he cycled to work and stopped for shade
on the Application Land.

4) Fank Allinson of 15 Harmire Road

He has seen children playing on the Application Land and people walking dogs
over the last 20 years.

Mr Allinson does not give evidence of use of Application Land himself.  He has
merely observed others using it.  Accordingly, no details of who he has seen
using the Application Land, how frequently or where the users come from is
provided. It is also unclear whether dog walkers he observed were walking a
defined route or anywhere on the Application Land.

5) & 6) – Gary & Gillian Raine of 4 Bede Kirk

Their children have played on the Application Land and they have lived in Bede
Kirk for several years.

Page 51



However, the exact period over which their children have used the Application
Land is not provided so it is unclear whether it is within or without the Qualifying
Period.  Equally, no details of frequency of the use are provided.

7) GA Chrystal of 2 Bede Kirk

Provides evidence of use by own children/grandchildren and other children as
well as dog walking since 1980.

On the face of it, this covers the whole of the Qualifying Period but in respect of
childrens’ play, there are no details as to frequency, where the other children
came from, where the dog walkers came from (although he does say they were
residents) or whether the dog walkers followed a particular route or walked
anywhere on the Application Land.

Page 52


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the Meeting held on 12 April and 20 November 2017
	Minutes - 20 November 2017

	5 Application NL44 for Village Green Registration - Bede Kirk, Barnard Castle - Report of Head of Legal and Democratic Services
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 1.pdf (p.1-10)
	app 1.pdf (p.11-17)

	Appendix 2_redacted
	2a.pdf (p.1-7)
	app 1.pdf (p.11-17)

	Appendix 2.pdf (p.8)

	Appendix 3_redacted
	3a.pdf (p.1-2)
	3b.pdf (p.3-4)
	c.pdf (p.5-8)
	d.pdf (p.9-10)

	Appendix 4


